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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT  
FOR THE DISTRICT OF IDAHO 

 
                                                                                     

) 
UNITED STATES OF AMERICA,   ) 

) 
 and      ) 

) 
THE STATE OF IDAHO,    ) 
       ) 
   Plaintiffs,   ) 
       ) 
             v.      )    Civil Action No.  15-155 
       )     
CITY OF JEROME, IDAHO,      ) 

) 
   Defendant.   ) 
       ) 
                                                                                    )     
  
 

COMPLAINT 
 

 The United States of America, by authority of the Attorney General of the United States 

and through the undersigned attorneys, acting at the request of the Administrator of the United 

States Environmental Protection Agency (“EPA”), and the State of Idaho, by authority of the 

Attorney General of Idaho and through the undersigned attorneys, acting at the request and on 

behalf of the Idaho Department of Environmental Quality, file this complaint and alleges as 

follows: 
STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

1. This is a civil action seeking a civil penalty and injunctive relief under Sections 

309(b) and (d) of the Clean Water Act (“Act”), 33 U.S.C. § 1319(b) and (d) against defendant 

City of Jerome, Idaho (“City” or “Defendant”), for violations of the terms of its NPDES permits 

issued under Section 402 of the Act, 33 U.S.C. § 1342. 
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JURISDICTION, AUTHORITY, NOTICE AND VENUE 

2. This Court has jurisdiction over the subject matter of this action pursuant to 

Section 309(b) of the Act, 33 U.S.C. § 1319(b), and 28 U.S.C. §§ 1331, 1345, and 1355. 

3. The United States has authority to bring this action on behalf of the Administrator 

of EPA (“Administrator”) under Section 506 of the Act, 33 U.S.C. § 1366, and under 28 U.S.C. 

§§ 516 and 519. 

4. Although the State of Idaho is not asserting a claim, it joins this action in order to 

satisfy the requirements of Section 309(e) of the Act, 33 U.S.C. § 1319(e). 

5. As a signatory to this Complaint, the State has actual notice of the commencement 

of this action in accordance with Section 309(b) of the Act, 33 U.S.C. § 1319(b). 

6. Venue is proper in this judicial district pursuant to Section 309(b) of the Act, 33 

U.S.C. § 1319(b), as this is a judicial district where Defendant is located and within which the 

claim arose.  

DEFENDANT 

7. The City is a political subdivision of the State of Idaho and a “municipality” and a 

“person” within the meaning of Sections 502(4) and (5) of the Act, 33 U.S.C. §§ 1362(4) and (5).  

8. The City owns and operates a waste water treatment facility (hereinafter, the 

WWTF or the Treatment Plant) that serves a population of about 9,600 people and three 

significant industrial users.  The City also owns and operates a sewer collection system which 

receives domestic sewage and industrial and commercial wastewater in the Jerome area, and 

which feeds into the WWTF (hereinafter, the Collection System).  Both the WWTF and the 

Collection System discharge effluent to the J8 Canal, Snake River, and other waters.  
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STATUTORY FRAMEWORK 

9. The Act is designed to restore and maintain the chemical, physical, and biological 

integrity of the nation’s waters.  Act § 101, 33 U.S.C.  § 1251(a). 

10. To accomplish this goal, Section 301(a) of the Act, 33 U.S.C. § 1311(a), prohibits 

the discharge of any pollutant from a point source to the waters of the United States except as 

authorized by, and in compliance with, certain enumerated Sections of the Act, including Section 

402 of the Act, 33 U.S.C. § 1342. 

11. Pursuant to Section 402 of the Act, 33 U.S.C. § 1342, the Administrator may 

issue a National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System (“NPDES”) permit, which authorizes 

the discharge of pollutants into waters of the United States.  Section 402 of the Act, 33 U.S.C. 

§ 1342, directs the Administrator of EPA to impose conditions for NPDES permits, including 

conditions on data and information collection, reporting, and such other requirements as the 

Administrator deems appropriate. 

12. Section 309(b) of the Act, 33 U.S.C. § 1319(b),  authorizes EPA to commence a 

civil action for appropriate relief, including a permanent or temporary injunction, for any 

violation for which a compliance order under Section 309(a) is also possible.  Section 309(a)(3) 

authorizes EPA to issue compliance orders whenever it finds that any person has violated Section 

301 of the Act or any condition or limitation in a permit issued pursuant to Section 402 of the 

Act. 33 U.S.C. § 1911(a)(3). 

13. Section 309(d) of the Act, 33 U.S.C. §  1319(d), as modified by the Debt 

Collection Improvement Act of 1996, 28 U.S.C.A. § 2461 note, and 40 C.F.R. Part 19.4, 

provides that any person who violates Section 301 of the Act, 33 U.S.C. § 1311, or any permit 
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condition or limitation implementing such section in an NPDES permit, shall be subject to a civil 

penalty not to exceed $37,500 per day for each violation that occurred after January 12, 2009. 

GENERAL ALLEGATIONS 

14. At all relevant times, the City has discharged and continues to discharge 

“pollutants” within the meaning of Section 502(6) of the Act, 33 U.S.C. § 1362(6), from the 

WWTF and Collection System through various “point sources” within the meaning of 

Section 502(14) of the Act, 33 U.S.C. § 1362(14).  The “point sources” include, but are not 

limited to, Outfall 001, which discharges effluent from the Treatment Plant, and various access 

points to the Collection System, from which untreated sewage from the Collection System is 

occasionally discharged. 

15. The City’s Treatment Plant and Collection System are “treatment works” within 

the meaning of Section 212(2) of the Clean Water Act, 33 U.S.C. § 1292(2), and “publicly 

owned treatment works” as defined by federal regulations implementing the Clean Water Act at 

40 C.F.R. § 403.3(q). 

16. The WWTF and Collection System include pipes, force mains, gravity sewer 

lines, lift stations, pump stations, and their appurtenances.  The City owns and operates thirteen 

pump stations.  The Collection System consists of forty miles of gravity sewer lines and five 

miles of force main lines. 

17. On August 31, 1999, EPA issued Defendant NPDES Permit No. ID-002016-8 

(“the 1999 Permit”) under Section 402 of the Act, 33 U.S.C. § 1342, which authorized the 

discharges of waste water containing pollutants from the WWTF subject to certain limitations 

and conditions.    

Case 3:15-cv-00155-BLW   Document 1   Filed 05/07/15   Page 4 of 12



 

5 
 

18. On July 1, 2010, EPA reissued Defendant NPDES Permit No. ID-002016-8 (“the 

2010 Permit”) under Section 402 of the Act, 33 U.S.C. § 1342, which also authorized the 

discharges of waste water containing pollutants from the WWTF subject to certain limitations 

and conditions.    

19. Both the 1999 Permit and the 2010 Permit authorized discharges from Outfall 001 

into the J8 Canal, a tributary of the Snake River, subject to permit conditions.  Nevertheless, the 

City has unlawfully discharged several hundred thousand gallons of untreated wastewater 

containing raw sewage through permitted and unpermitted point sources.  The unauthorized 

discharges include sanitary sewer overflows (SSOs) from the WWTF and the Collection System. 

20. During all times relevant to this Complaint, the City’s Permits have required 

compliance with standard conditions, including, among other provisions, that: 

The permittee must comply with all conditions of this permit. Any permit 
noncompliance constitutes a violation of the Act and is grounds for enforcement 
action, for permit termination, revocation and reissuance, or modification, or for 
denial of a permit renewal application. 
 

2010 Permit, Section IV., Para. A; 1999 Permit, Section III, Para. A. 

21. During all times relevant to this Complaint, the City’s Permits have also required 

proper operation and maintenance, including the provision that, “The permittee shall at all times 

properly operate and maintain all facilities and systems of treatment and control (and related 

appurtenances) which are installed or used by the permittee to achieve compliance with the 

conditions of this permit.”  2010 Permit, Section IV., Para. E; 1999 Permit, Section III, Para. E. 

22. During all times relevant to this Complaint, the City’s Permits authorized only the 

routine discharges of pollutants as described in the permitting process.  The 1999 Permit states at 

Section I, Paragraph A.1., “This permit does not authorize the discharge of any waste streams, 

including spills and other unintentional or non-routine discharges of pollutants, that are not part 
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of the normal operation of the facility as disclosed in the permit application . . .”  Similarly, the 

2010 Permit states at Section I, Paragraph A, “This permit authorizes the discharge of only those 

pollutants resulting from facility processes, waste streams, and operations that have been clearly 

identified in the permit application process.” 

23. Some or all of the discharges alleged herein have resulted, in whole or in part, 

from the City’s failure to properly manage, operate, and maintain its WWTF and Collection 

System.  Proper management, operation, and maintenance would ensure that the City can 

transport water, sewage, and various pollutants through its WWTF without permit violations. 

FIRST CLAIM FOR RELIEF 
(SSOs) 

 
24. Paragraphs 1 through 23 are realleged and incorporated by reference as if fully set 

forth below. 

25. On numerous occasions during the past five years and before, the City has 

discharged untreated wastewater containing raw sewage from various access points in the 

Collection System that are not identified in the NPDES permits as authorized outfalls and from 

the WWTF in violation of the conditions and limitations of the NPDES permits.  A list of seven 

reported discharges for the period from April 2010 to July 2010 is attached as Appendix B. 

26. Each day of each such discharge is a separate violation of the City’s Permits. 

27. Unless enjoined, the City will continue to discharge pollutants in violation of the 

City’s Permits. 

28. Pursuant to 33 U.S.C. §§ 1319(b) and (d), as modified by 40 C.F.R. Part 19, the 

City is liable for civil penalties of up to $37,500 per day for each violation occurring after 

January 12, 2009. 
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SECOND CLAIM FOR RELIEF 
(Violations of NPDES Permit Conditions on Effluents) 

 
29. Paragraphs 1 through 28 are realleged and incorporated by reference as if fully set 

forth below. 

30. During all times relevant to this Complaint, the City’s Permits have required 

compliance with the following limitations on discharges from Outfall 001: 

a. From August 31, 1999, to July 1, 2010, biological oxygen demand (BOD) 

shall not exceed a weekly average concentration of 45 milligrams per liter 

(mg/L), a monthly average concentration of 30 mg/L, a weekly average 

load of 560 pounds per day, or a monthly average load of 375 pounds per 

day; 

b. From July 1, 2010, to present, BOD shall not exceed a weekly average 

concentration of 45 mg/L, a monthly average concentration of 30 mg/L, a 

weekly average load of 1,100 pounds per day, a monthly average load of 

750 pounds per day, or less than 85% removal in any month; 

c. From August 31, 1999, to July 1, 2010, total suspended solids (TSS) shall 

not exceed a weekly average concentration of 45 mg/L, a monthly average 

concentration of 30 mg/L, a weekly average load of 560 pounds per day, 

or a monthly average load of 375 pounds per day; 

d. From July 1, 2010, to present, TSS shall not exceed a weekly average 

concentration of 45 mg/L, a monthly average concentration of 30 mg/L, a 

weekly average load of 1,100 pounds per day, a monthly average load of 

750 pounds per day, or less than 85% removal; 
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e. Total residual chlorine shall not exceed a daily maximum concentration of 

1.0 mg/L and a monthly average concentration of 0.5 mg/L; 

f. From August 31, 1999, to July 1, 2010, fecal coliform shall not exceed a 

daily maximum concentration of 800 colonies per 100 milliliters of 

effluent, a weekly average concentration of 200 colonies for 100 milliliters 

of effluent, or a monthly average concentration of 200 colonies for 100 

milliliters of effluent; 

g. From July 1, 2010, to present, E. coli bacteria shall not exceed a daily 

maximum concentration of 406 colonies per 100 milliliters of effluent or a 

monthly average concentration of 126 colonies for 100 milliliters of 

effluent; 

e. pH shall be between 6.5 and 9.0 standard units; 

f. Total phosphorus shall not exceed a weekly average concentration of 377 

lb/day for all times relevant to the complaint; a monthly average 

concentration of 205 lb/day from August 31, 1999, to July 1, 2010; and 

204.5 lb/day from July 1, 2010, to the present. 

g. Dissolved oxygen shall be below 2.0 mg/l. 

31. On various dates within the past five years and before, the City discharged from 

Outfall 001 in violation of the Permits’ effluent limitations.  A list of the reported discharges in 

violation of the effluent limitations for the period of April 2010 to June 2011 is attached as 

Appendix A.  

32. Each violation of a Permit condition is a separate violation of the City’s Permits, 

and each day of each discharge is a separate violation. 
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33. On information and belief, the City will continue to violate the aforementioned 

statutory and regulatory provisions, unless enjoined by the Court.  

34. Pursuant to 33 U.S.C. §§ 1319(b) and (d), as modified by 40 C.F.R. Part 19, the 

City is liable for civil penalties of up to $37,500 per day for each violation occurring after 

January 12, 2009. 

 
 PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

 WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs request that the Court: 

 1. Pursuant to 33 U.S.C. § 1319(d), assess civil penalties against the City, as 

permitted by law, up to the date of judgment herein; 

 2. Pursuant to 33 U.S.C. § 1319(b), enjoin the City from any and all ongoing and 

future violations of the Clean Water Act by ordering compliance with the Act; 

 3. Order the City to take all steps necessary to come into permanent and consistent 

compliance with the City’s Permit; 

 4. Order the City to take all steps necessary to redress or mitigate the impact of its 

violations; 

 5. Award Plaintiffs their costs of this action; and 

 6. Award such other and further relief as the Court deems appropriate. 
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Respectfully submitted, 

FOR THE UNITED STATES OF AMERICA: 
 
JOHN C. CRUDEN 

   Assistant Attorney General 
   Environment & Natural Resources Division 

  
    THOMAS A. MARIANI, JR. 

Deputy Section Chief 
Environmental Enforcement Section 

 
/s/ Katherine L. Matthews  

    KATHERINE L. MATTHEWS, MA Bar No. 659518 
    Trial Attorney           
    United States Department of Justice 
    Environment & Natural Resources Division 
    Environmental Enforcement Section  
    999 18TH Street, Suite 370 
    Telephone: (303) 844-1365 
    Fax: (303) 844-1350 
    Email: Kate.Matthews@usdoj.gov 
 

WENDY J. OLSON 
United States Attorney 
District of Idaho 
 
/s/ Syrena Hargrove  
SYRENA HARGROVE, Bar No. 6213 
Assistant United States Attorneys 
United States Attorney's Office 
Washington Group IV 
800 Park Blvd., Suite 600 
Boise, ID 83712 

 
FOR THE STATE OF IDAHO: 
 
/s/  Douglas M. Conde  
Douglas M. Conde 
Deputy Attorney General  
Office of the Attorney General 
Natural Resources Division 
Environmental Quality Section  
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 Appendix - A 
EFFLUENT LIMIT VIOLATIONS  

(City of Jerome, ID Wastewater Treatment Facility) 

Month Pollutant 
Effluent 

Limitation 
Value Reported 

in DMR 
Limit Type 

April 2010 Fecal coliform 800 count 817/100 mL Daily Maximum 

January 2011 BOD 30 mg/l 43 mg/l Monthly Average 

January 2011 BOD 45 mg/l 51 mg/l Weekly Average 

January 2011 e-coli 406 count 461 count Daily Maximum 

January 2011 BOD percent removal 85% 73% Monthly Average 

February 2011 BOD 45 mg/l 68 mg/l Weekly Average 

February 2011 e-coli 406 count 2420 count Daily Maximum 

February 2011 BOD percent removal 85% 71% Monthly Average 

February 2011 BOD 750 lb/day 5498 lb/day Monthly Average 

February 2011 BOD 30 mg/l 391 mg/l Monthly Average 

February 2011 TSS 30 mg/l 471 mg/l Monthly Average 

February 2011 e-coli 200 count 846,262 count Monthly Average 

February 2011 e-coli 406 count 2,420,000 count Daily Maximum 

March 2011 TSS percent removal 85% 71% Monthly Average 

March 2011 BOD 750 lb/day 5562 lb/day Monthly Average 

February 2011 BOD 30 mg/l 357 mg/l Monthly Average 

February 2011 TSS 30 mg/l 409 mg/l  Monthly Average 

February 2011 e-coli 200 count 215,877 count Monthly Average 

February 2011 e-coli 406 count 2,420,000 count Daily Maximum 

April 2011 phosphorous 204.5 lb/day 237 lb/day Monthly Average 

May 2011 phosphorous 204.5 lb/day 262 lb/day Monthly Average 

June 2011 phosphorous 204.5 lb/day 225 lb/day Monthly Average 
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Appendix B  
SANITARY SEWER OVERFLOWS 

(City of Jerome, ID Wastewater Treatment Facility) 

Month Discharge Point Source Gallons Overflowed

April 2010 H-Street Lift Station 30,000

May 2010 East Avenue I and J Streets Unknown

June 2010 Brockman Lift Station 50,000

July 2010 WWTP - clarifier holding tanks unknown

October 10, 2010 100 South pump station 20,000

October 29, 2010 H-Street lift station 70,000

November 7, 2010 Overflow at 600 6th Ave. East 440
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United States of America and State of Idaho

Katherine L. Matthews for the United States
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Enforcement of clean water act permit

05/07/2015            Kate Matthews
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